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Abstract:  

This essay utilises four case studies to explore the various causes, experiences and results 

of escape from slavery in the late-eighteenth and early-nineteenth century British Atlantic 

World. These are: Johnny Beckles in Barbados, Jamie Montgomery in Scotland, Castle 

Slaves at Cape Coast Castle on the West African Gold Coast; and Harriet and Beverly 

Hemings in Virginia. This essay argues that while some sought escape from slavery and 

even their race, others sought sanctuary within slave society and even on plantations, 

while others used escape as a means of pressuring for changes in their lives and work as 

enslaved people. 
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 What did it mean for an enslaved person to run away in the eighteenth-century? 

The answer may appear fairly obvious to historians of British North America. A good 

deal of excellent scholarship has focused on the advertisements placed in North American 

newspapers by slave-owners eager to recapture their property. The life experiences and 

the motivations of long-forgotten enslaved men, women and children speak loudly 

through the angry words of those who pursued them, and even the biases of slave-owners 

reveal a great deal about the identity and the agency of their human property. American 

historians have used runaway advertisements in order to develop our understanding of the 

nature of slavery and resistance in the slave-holding states, and the attempted journeys to 

freedom undertaken by a few of those held in bondage.1 

 The surviving narratives of escaped slaves have enhanced our understanding of 

this journey from slavery to freedom. Harriet Tubman recalled that by running away she 

had ‘crossed the line’ from enslavement to freedom, while Frederick Douglass wrote of 

his transition from bondage to ‘free life’ as ‘a free man’ in the Northern states. Indeed, 

Tubman’s iconic status as a heroic bound woman who resisted her enslavement was 

recognised by Secretary of the Treasury Jacob J. Lew when he announced that her 

struggle for liberty made Tubman the most appropriate American woman to grace a 

newly designed $20 bill.2 Building on the words of these runaways and the newspaper 

advertisements placed by many thousands of runaway slave owners, historians have 

tended to present escape as ‘a dramatic form of resistance’ by means of which ‘many 

runaways were seeking personal freedom while some worked against the system of 

slavery itself.’3 Historians, myself included, have sought out examples of running away 

as embodying a resistance to slavery that pervaded and delineated the community of the 
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enslaved. In this light running away is an implicitly politicized act, a defiant assertion of 

individual liberty. 

Yet freedom and liberty are necessarily abstract and historically contingent 

concepts, and what they meant and how they functioned two or three centuries ago in 

North America, in the Caribbean, in West Africa and in the British Isles may have varied 

considerably. Did all runaways seek to exchange bondage for liberty in the manner of 

Dougless and Tubman? By defining the quest for freedom as a rebellious political act, we 

may risk de-historicizing slavery and losing sight of enslavement as a remarkably 

malleable labor form, exercised, experienced and escaped in extraordinarily different 

ways across the eighteenth- and early-nineteenth-century British Atlantic World.  

 The history of the enslaved is much more than a story of the winners who resisted 

successfully in the manner of Douglass and Tubman and the losers who did not, and 

nowhere is this more apparent than in the history of runaways in the British Atlantic 

World. Running away from slavery was a more complicated and a more varied act than 

we have often realized, in part because slavery was a far more multifaceted form and 

experience of labor than we may have imagined.4 

 In this essay I will explore four case studies of runaway slaves in the late-

eighteenth and early-nineteenth century British Atlantic World, in order to illuminate the 

very different forms that running away might take, its varied causes, and the dramatically 

different objectives of those who ran. Not all sought freedom in the ways and terms that 

we might expect, and not all were resisting slavery in the manner that we might assume. I 

hope to deploy these disparate acts of running away to reveal how different racial slavery 
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could be in all of the places in which the British utilized it, and how different were the 

lives and experiences of the enslaved themselves.  

 

*  *  * 

 

Barbados 

I shall begin with Barbados, England’s first large-scale slave society, and the 

island on which modern, integrated plantations were first developed. The surviving 

records do not reveal when Johnny Beckles ran away from his Barbados master. He most 

likely eloped during the 1770s when still a teenager, and young and courageous enough 

to try to escape from – and into – perhaps the most densely populated plantation society 

in the Americas. For by the time that Beckles eloped, Barbadian integrated sugar 

plantations had been in place for well over a century, and the island had become a small 

and densely populated hell. Between 1627 and 1808 over 600,000 enslaved Africans 

disembarked on the island, over four times the number of enslaved Africans taken to the 

far larger Chesapeake colonies during the same period.5 

Runaways were rarely a significant problem for Bajan planters. The small size of 

Barbados, the lack of suitable terrain for the development of Maroon communities and 

the difficulty of either leaving the island or remaining concealed all made long-term 

escape even more difficult than it would have been elsewhere in British America. 

Barbados was an island of only 166 square miles, smaller than the combined boroughs of 

Brooklyn and Queens in present-day New York City.  There were no mountains, no 

forests and no significant caves on Barbados, nowhere in short for runaways to seek 
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permanent refuge. Escape off the island was all but impossible, and most of the enslaved 

who abandoned their posts did so only temporarily, absconding to see friends and family 

and to temporarily escape the back-breaking labour of sugar agriculture and manufacture. 

Masters rarely advertised for these short-term absentees, and appear to have accepted 

‘petite marronage’ as a safety valve and a cost of business. Few indeed were the 

runaways who could escape altogether, and this knowledge must have made it even more 

difficult for the enslaved in Barbados to contemplate long-term escape.6 

 Johnny Beckles was different, however, for he sought to escape his owner and 

plantation forever. And, for what must have seemed like a lifetime, he succeeded, melting 

away into British America’s most densely populated plantation society. He ran away 

‘many years before the storm of 1780,’ and was not recaptured until 1805. For at least a 

quarter-century, Johnny eluded his master, and the young slave who eloped when at the 

peak of his physical powers was about forty-five years old when he was finally 

recaptured. Johnny Beckles may have evaded capture for so long because although he 

was a runaway, he did not escape from plantation slavery to freedom, at least not in the 

way we might expect. When Johnny was finally discovered he was living in the slave 

quarters on the Pool Plantation in St. John Parish. The white man who discovered Johnny 

reported that ‘from the best information I can collect, [Beckles] has been living in the 

Pool Negro-yard’ for two or more decades, and possibly since the day he ran away.7 

 Why would an enslaved youth run away, permanently, from one plantation in 

order to take up residence on another? His goal appears not to have been liberty per se, 

although Beckles may have sought to escape from a particularly harsh master or overseer. 

Perhaps he sought a more permanent version of the temporary familial reunions of short-
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term runaways, for it is possible that his closest family members were on the Pool 

Plantation, or perhaps in the years after his escape Beckles may have formed a family on 

the Pool Plantation. By this point Barbados was home to an increasingly creolised society 

in which slave births were finally beginning to outnumber slave deaths, and especially 

when compared with Jamaica or South Carolina fewer of Beckles’ fellow slaves had been 

born in Africa.8 Consequently, the island’s enslaved black majority were developing a 

more stable culture in which they sought to live and enjoy life as best they could. By the 

late-eighteenth century there was the potential to enjoy a materially, socially and 

culturally better life in Barbados than had been enjoyed by the enslaved of a half-century 

or a century earlier. 

 The advertisements placed by Bajan slave-owners eager to recapture their escaped 

slaves make clear that many believed the runaways to have secreted themselves on or 

near other plantations. When an enslaved mason named Gregory escaped from Joseph 

Best, the master concluded that the runaway was ‘harboured by people of his own 

profession, and the watchmen in plantations.’ Best’s casual observation reveals the ways 

in which runaways might secure sanctuary and protection amongst friends, family and 

co-workers on other plantations. Ann Archer believed that her runaway Arch was 

‘harboured at the place of his late owner’; Mary and her daughter Bella-Ann were, their 

owner believed, harboured either on Perry’s Estate or Joe’s River Plantation, and 

eighteen-year old Bella-Ann managed to remain concealed for at least five months; 

Phibah, who was three months pregnant when she escaped, was thought by her owner to 

be ‘harboured in the parish of St Philip’ at one of several different estates including those 

owned or operated by John Serjeant, James Griffin, Samuel Batsan, or Mary Wiltshire. 
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While Alexander Purchase did not know where Phibah was, he was sure she was 

concealed on another plantation.9  

Barbados newspapers contain many such assertions by owners of their belief that 

those who had escaped were ‘harboured’ or ‘concealed’ on other plantations. James 

Hackett re-advertised for two long-term runaways when he received new information 

about where they might be concealed. Phibba has likely runaway before, for Hackett’s 

initials were branded on each of her cheeks, yet she had been able to avoid recapture for 

at least fifteen years during which time she had raised several children, while Hazard had 

been absent for six months. Hackett had thought that Hazard had been ‘harboured by the 

Slaves belonging to the Estate of Col. John Jones, deceased, and Mrs. Elizabeth Bushell’. 

However,  

from some late Intelligence, the Subscriber has been informed that the Woman 

and her Children, together with the Fellow, Hazard, are harboured by the Slaves 

belonging to the Estate called the Guinea, the Property of the Hon. George 

Walker, Esq.10  

Even on a small island like Barbados, it was clearly possible for some long-term runaway 

to live on or near other plantations for extended periods, raising families and living life 

under slavery but in a location and with people of their own choosing. 

 Other Barbados runaway advertisements provide evidence that family members 

often provided refuge and a desired destination for enslaved runaways who sought longer 

term escape. Anthony, ‘a thin young man’ who bore his owner Thomas Hurst’s initials on 

his cheek, was supposed ‘to be harboured among his relations, and has been seen with 

them at the estate of Mr. Jacob Lewis’. Abel Hinds was unsure where twenty-nine-year-
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old George had run to: a skilled musician, George might – his owner thought – be with 

his wife Jubah on Lancaster Plantation, with another wife in Speightstown; of with his 

mother Hester, another runaway thought to be with her daughters at yet another 

plantation. Gumm had come to Barbados from Grenada, and so was less familiar with his 

new home: when Gumm escaped his owner Samuel Scott thought it likely that the 

runaway would make his way to relatives ‘at the Belle Plantation, & another at the Pyne.’ 

William Butler believed it quite likely that forty-year –old Affey was secreted on the 

plantation of Sir William Fitzherbert, ‘as she has children by the black driver on said 

estate named Exeter’. This advertisement appeared regularly over the ensuing six-weeks, 

after which Affey was recaptured or Butler tired of the expense of advertising for her. 

Similarly Peter was ‘supposed to be harboured at Mr. John Roach’s, where he has a 

wife’.11 Reunion with family members was a clear and persistent motive for escape, and 

slave owners were convinced that escapees could be successfully harboured and 

concealed on plantations, often for extended periods. 

 As property the enslaved could be stolen, and it is possible that an owner or 

overseer of Pool Plantation had colluded in Beckles’ escape from his owner. Was Beckles 

really able to remain in the slave quarters on Pool Plantation for more than a quarter-

century without the knowledge of the plantation’s managers? A surprisingly large 

number of Caribbean runaway advertisements indicate an area or even a specific 

plantation on which the owner believed a runaway might be concealed. There could be 

any number of reasons for such white complicity in slave escape. For example, if Beckles 

did have close family, friends and community on the Pool Plantation, allowing him to 

remain present may have created a more stable family and community at his destination 
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whose other members were themselves less likely to escape, and thus less likely to 

disrupt the plantation economy. Or he may have brought a valuable skill. Beckles almost 

certainly lived the best years of his life on the Pool Plantation, and whether directly or 

indirectly the plantation’s owners likely derived significant benefits from the presence of 

a slave they did not own, even he if he did not actually labour for them, or live and work 

independently from the slave quarters without their knowledge.  

On occasion other Bajan owners of enslaved people who had absconded made 

clear that they believed that free blacks or whites had aided, were concealing or were 

illegally benefitting from the work of runaways. Pothenah had good reason to escape, 

given that her owner John Fayerman described her as bearing a permanent ‘mark from 

the lash of a whip across her stomach, and two others on one of her sides’. Fayerman 

described Pothenah as ‘an excellent good washer as well as field negro’, and he related 

that the runaway was ‘supposed to be employed by some free person’ in the Scotland 

district of Barbados. When the carpenter Grigg eloped in the spring of 1783, the 

runaway’s well-known carpentry skills, as well as ‘some other reasons’, led his owner 

John Moltsey to suspect a conspiracy. Moltsey believed that Grigg ‘has been seduced by 

some ill-disposed person or other to absent’ himself, be taken into custody, and then sold 

to the white or free black person with whom he had conspired. The advertisement ended 

with the offer of a significant reward of half Grigg’s value to be awarded to anyone who 

‘can fairly prove that he has been, or shall be employed... by any white person, free 

negro, or mulatto’. Similarly Sam, who was African-born with filed teeth and who spoke 

‘broken English’ escaped from his owner Sarah Gittens in 1789 He had run away from 

her at least once before, five years previously, and Gittens believed that Sam was both 
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‘harboured and employed in St. Philip’s parish at a place near the estate called 

Brancker’s.’12 

 For Johnny Beckles, running away had not meant an escape from plantation 

slavery. Having successfully escaped from one master, Beckles quite possibly went on to 

do much the same kind of work on the Pool Plantation that he would have done under his 

legal owner. It is even possible that he may have been stung by the overseer’s lash, been 

verbally and physically abused, and had his body weakened by the incredibly arduous 

work of planting, fertilising, harvesting and processing sugar cane. Alternatively, he may 

have succeeded in living in secret in or near the plantation’s slave quarters while avoiding 

plantation labor, perhaps doing other work and perhaps even passing as a free man off the 

plantation, and contributing to family and the enslaved community in which he lived. 

Either way, Beckles had chosen the place and the community of enslaved in which he 

would live much and perhaps even most of his life. Perhaps his parents, and perhaps too a 

family that he then formed were on Pool Plantation. Thus Beckles did not run away from 

slavery, and he did not challenge the institution of slavery. He ran not from slavery to 

freedom as we usually understand it, but from his own enslavement to a liminal status 

within an enslaved community very similar to the one from which he had escaped. 

 

Beith, Ayrshire, Scotland 

Virginia-born Jamie Montgomery escaped from enslavement in Port Glasgow in 

south-western Scotland in late April of 1756. We know a great deal more about this case 

than many others because Montgomery’s escape and eventual recapture resulted in a 

lawsuit which preserved the words of runaway and master alike. This will enable me to 
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recount his story in more detail and at greater length than is possible with most runaways.  

Montgomery’s owner, Robert Shedden, had lived and worked at the heart of the 

expanding tobacco frontier in western Virginia as one of an expanding cohort of Scottish 

merchants.13 Operating in Fredericksburg, the fast growing seat of Spotsylvania County 

on the Rappahannock River, Shedden had purchased the young enslaved teenaged boy 

named Jamie from Joseph Hawkins, one of the county’s more successful planters, and a 

‘gentleman’ and captain of the militia cavalry company.14 No record of Jamie or his 

family appears to have survived in Virginia, and we know of this transaction only 

because the original bill of sale – the legal proof of ownership – is today held by the 

National Archives of Scotland. Other documents in this archive confirm that Jamie was 

Virginia-born, and it appears likely that he was the son of an enslaved woman owned by 

Hawkins. Given the massive forced migration of enslaved Africans to Virginia during the 

mid-eighteenth century it is quite possible that one or even both of Jamie’s parents had 

been born in Africa. We do not know exactly how old Jamie was, but he was most likely 

a young teenager, a boy who had grown up in a fairly large community of enslaved 

Africans working on the Spotsylvania County tobacco plantations of Joseph Hawkins. 

It was not unusual for successful Scottish factors and merchants to purchase 

slaves who would undertake physical labour in their trading houses, but it was not for this 

reason that Shedden purchased Jamie. Instead Shedden had agreed to buy the young boy 

from Hawkins, send him him back to Scotland where he would be apprenticed to a joiner, 

and then bring the skilled slave back to Virginia and sell him back to Hawkins for the 

same price with a bonus of one thousand pounds of tobacco.15 Quite what prompted 

Hawkins to have this young slave boy sent to Scotland for this training is unclear: 
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perhaps Shedden had revealed that his younger sister Elizabeth was married to Robert 

Morrice, a skilled carpenter in their home town of Beith in Ayrshire.16 

It is likely that Jamie had spent much of his childhood in the company of people 

whose skin was the same colour as his. His parents or others in this community would 

have told tales of their own earlier lives in West Africa, and perhaps some had related the 

horrors of the Middle Passage. Jamie would have shared the food, the developing 

language and the culture of the emerging African American community of Virginia. But 

Ayrshire was a long way from Virginia. How different a small town in Scotland must 

have seemed to a young African American boy torn from his family and community in 

Virginia? Arriving late in the year the short, dark days, the food, the language, the 

weather, and of course white Scottish society – everything must have seemed alien to 

Jamie. Midway between Paisley and Ardrossan, Beith was a small but growing town 

surrounded by arable and dairy farmland, and in 1759 the town was home to almost 700 

adult parishioners eligible for examination for admission to communion in the local 

church. These included a wide number of skilled craftsmen including masons, saddlers, 

shoemakers, smiths, coopers and carpenters, and Jamie was settled into the household of 

Robert and Elizabeth Morrice where he began his apprenticeship.17 

While Jamie was quite possibly the only dark-skinned person in Beith, there were 

in fact more people of African descent in eighteenth century Britain than we might 

expect. By the end of the eighteenth century Africans constituted Britain’s largest non-

white community, and one recent estimate suggests that by 1800 some ten thousand black 

people lived in London alone.18 Such numbers are no more than informed guesses, but it 

is clear that Africans lived, worked and died throughout Georgian Britain, not least 
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because many planters, merchants, ships’ officers, doctors and even clergymen who 

returned from the Americas brought black slaves with them, often taking them to rural 

homes and estates. Ayrshire was no exception, given the coastal county’s trading links 

with America and its popularity as a rural retreat amongst Glasgow merchants and 

factors. 

Robert Shedden paid Robert Morrice £40 as Jamie’s apprenticeship fee and a 

further two shillings per week for Jamie’s bed, board and clothing.19 We do not know if 

Jamie was Morrice’s only apprentice, or if he was one of several in a larger business, but 

he likely lived alongside, ate his meals and slept with Morrice’s apprentices or his 

children. It would also appear that Jamie attended church with the Morrice family, along 

with most residents of Beith. This was quite likely the first time Jamie had been able to 

attend church regularly: Virginia had fewer than one hundred clergymen, and only one 

church per thousand white residents: it would not be until the evangelical revivals of the 

later eighteenth century that enslaved Africans would begin to enjoy easy access to 

Christian worship.20 

Two years into Jamie’s apprenticeship his owner Robert Shedden returned home 

to Scotland. Having made a good deal of money in Virginia Shedden had purchased an 

estate near Beith, and shortly after his return the merchant married Elizabeth Simson.21 

For reasons that are unclear, Shedden reclaimed his human property from Robert 

Morrice, and Jamie was brought into Shedden’s household. Jamie’s subordinate status 

was confirmed by Shedden’s apparent decision to rename him ‘Shanker’, almost certainly 

a derogatory appellation, and to take him away from his professional training and his 

home with the Morrice family. Jamie would later assert that Shedden employed him: 
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in the most slavish and servile business, his only occupation being the sawing of 

wood, and other laborious works, which requiring neither skill nor ingenuity, but 

sinews and strength, were therefore judged proper for a Person of [his] 

complexion, and of his unusual strength and vigour.22 

Such language clearly implies that Jamie now thought of himself as a skilled craftsman, 

above and better than the menial manual labour expected of many enslaved African 

Americans. We do not know what prompted Shedden to take Jamie away from his work 

as an apprentice joiner and to treat the young man in this manner. It is unlikely to have 

been a cost-cutting measure, since Shedden had returned from Virginia a wealthy man, 

and was buying property, marrying, and establishing himself both as an Ayrshire 

gentleman, and a burgess and guild brother of Glasgow.23 What is perhaps more likely is 

that upon his return to Scotland Shedden discovered that Jamie was growing into 

manhood away from the violent discipline of slave society, and that living, training, 

working and worshipping alongside white people, Jamie was beginning to think of 

himself as deserving of certain rights.  

A further indication of this can be found in the fact that Jamie had been baptised 

by John Witherspoon, minister of the church in Beith. Shedden would later testify that 

Jamie ‘got it into his Head, that by being baptized he would become free’: this concerned 

Shedden, who claimed to have opposed the baptism because of ‘the Fancies of Freedom 

which it might instill into his Slave.’ Beith was Witherspoon’s first parish, and he had 

been in post just five years when Jamie arrived. Witherspoon provided Jamie with some 

basic religious instruction, and in April 1756 the minister provided the young black man 

with a certificate testifying to the bearer’s good Christian conduct.24 It is interesting that 
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Witherspoon proved ready and willing to welcome Jamie into his congregation on 

nominally equal terms, and to give him a certificate that recognised his independent 

agency as a Christian believer. According to Shedden, Jamie was ‘over and over again 

told’ by Witherspoon that baptism ‘by no means freed him.’25 Within a few years 

Witherspoon would himself become a slave-owner, and just as interested in protecting 

the rights of slave-owners as the rights of the enslaved. In 1766 Witherspoon moved to 

New Jersey in order to become President of the College of New Jersey (Princeton 

University), and he would become a leading Patriot and a signer of the Declaration of 

Independence. However, like many of his New Jersey neighbours Witherspoon owned 

slaves, and his estate included two enslaved people at his death. Indeed, in 1790 he voted 

against a plan for the gradual emancipation of slaves in New Jersey.26 

What happened next between Robert Shedden and Jamie must be pieced together 

from their surviving and often contradictory accounts in the National Records of 

Scotland. Robert Shedden’s brother Matthew, another Virginia merchant, was due to sail 

to Virginia in the spring of 1756, and Robert decided to honour his agreement with 

Joseph Hawkins and send Jamie back to Virginia, and in the process realise a profit on 

Jamie’s training as a joiner. According to Shedden, Jamie went willingly to the ship at 

Port Glasgow, having been promised a reunion with his parents. However, Jamie would 

later testify that he had been forcibly taken from his bed by Shedden, his brother James 

and two other men. With his hands tied, Jamie was tethered to a horse and dragged from 

Beith to Port Glasgow during the night and early morning hours, ‘not upon the King’s 

high way, but thro’ muirs or lonely places, and other by-roads.’ In Port Glasgow the 

Virginia-bound ship was not yet ready, and Jamie was imprisoned and guarded in the 
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home of Robert Hunter, a butcher. On the following day, the weakened Jamie prevailed 

upon his captors to allow him to walk along the quay, ‘which was necessary for the 

recovery of his health.’ Jamie seized the opportunity to escape, and made his way to 

Edinburgh.27 

Whether or not Jamie had gone willingly to Port Glasgow, once there he had no 

intention of returning to Virginia. It was a momentous decision for the young man, for 

running away from Shedden and asserting his freedom made it highly unlikely that he 

could safely return to Virginia and see his parents, siblings, family and community. 

During six years in Scotland Jamie had grown from a boy to young adult, and perhaps 

life, work and community in Scotland had become familiar and comfortable. He no doubt 

remembered Virginia’s slave society, and apparently he had no desire to return to a land 

where he would be property, where he could do few of the things that he might do in 

Scotland. And so, while taking exercise along the docks as the shop readied to sail, Jamie 

ran away. 

We know this because a few weeks later Jamie’s irate owner placed a runaway 

slave advertisement in Glasgow and Edinburgh newspapers.  

RUN Away from the Subscriber, living near Beith, Shire of Ayr, ONE NEGRO 

MAN, aged about 22 years, five feet and a half high or thereby. He is a Virginian 

born Slave, speaks pretty good English; he has been five years in this country, and 

has served sometimes with a joiner; he has a deep Scare above one of his eyes, 

occasioned by a stroke of a horse; he also has got with him a Certificate, which 

calls him Jamie Montgomerie, signed, John Witherspoone Minister. Whoever 
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takes up the said Run-away, and brings him home, or secures him, and gets notice 

to his master, shall have two guineas reward, besides all other charges paid by me 

       ROB. SHEDDEN28 

This was the first time that Jamie appeared in any kind of public document or 

record. His status as ‘a Virginian born Slave’ is made manifest by Shedden, who clearly 

felt no shame in asserting his right of ownership of another human being in the pages of 

one of Scotland’s leading newspapers. A good number of Scots owned slaves, or had 

interests in businesses concerned with the trade in goods produced by slaves, and at this 

point few if any Scots were interested in campaigning to end slavery. Shedden 

inadvertently revealed how acclimatised Jamie has become by revealing that he had lived 

in Scotland for five years, spoke English well, and had apprenticed with a joiner.  

A particularly interesting feature of the advertisement is Shedden’s statement that 

Jamie carried with him the certificate given him by Witherspoon ‘which calls him Jamie 

Montgomery.’ The battle over ownership of a human being is played out in this short 

sentence. Shedden had renamed Jamie as ‘Shanker’, asserting complete control over the 

young man not only by the act of renaming but also by the use of a name not normally 

applied to people. Perhaps Shedden resented the fact that Jamie had appropriated a 

surname: at this point most slaves in Virginia were recorded in property lists, sales and 

other records with only a first name: a surname gave lineage and legal identity to those 

whose enslaved status made such individuality impossible. We do not know why Jamie 

had assumed the name Montgomery, although we do know that it was a fairly common 

surname in Ayrshire. Who helped or perhaps even inspired the young man enough for 

Jamie to want to share their surname? Perhaps it was Elizabeth Montgomerie, the young 
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wife of John Witherspoon, in whose home Jamie likely received instruction before his 

baptism?29  

Witherspoon’s certificate was another point of contention between Shedden and 

Montgomery. These documents were sometimes given by ministers to parishioners who 

were moving, to be utilised in other parishes as evidence of good Christian standing. As 

such they were a kind of religious passport which documented religious citizenship. By 

giving Montgomery such a certificate, Witherspoon had – whether intentionally or not – 

authenticated Montgomery’s growing sense that he was more than an enslaved piece of 

property. 

But property is what Jamie Montgomery was, at least as far as Robert Shedden 

was concerned. With no sense of shame Shedden would later assert that he had ‘paid L. 

56 Virginia Currency’ for Montgomery, as well as ‘considerable Sums for his Apprentice 

Fee, his Board, Clothing, and the Expence of recovering him, &c.’ Consequently, 

Shedden claimed the ‘Right to retain him.’ Jamie Montgomery was not, Shedden 

claimed, entitled to Habeus Corpus, ‘for by Magna Charta only a Freeman is intitled 

thereto.’30  

Unfortunately for Montgomery, the generous reward of two guineas plus 

expenses offered for his capture proved too tempting. At the bottom of the original bill of 

sale for Jamie Montgomery John Braidwood, an officer of the Baillie Court, wrote a 

receipt for £2 2s on the 13th of May 1756, which was paid to him ‘for apprehending one 

Negro Black boy named James Montgomerie’ and lodging him in the Edinburgh 

tollbooth.31 How and why had Montgomery made his way to Edinburgh? We cannot 

know, but what we do know is that he had been able to make full use of his training, for 



 20 

he had found sanctuary and employment as a journeyman joiner in Peter Wright’s 

workshop. Montgomery’s apprenticeship had given him a skill and a professional 

identity, and thus a means by which to subsist.  

Jamie Montgomery’s story did not end well. Shedden petitioned the Bailies to 

have Montgomery returned to him, but the Bailies allowed Robert Gray, the procurator 

fiscal of their court, to act for Montgomery.32 But the Edinburgh Tolbooth was an 

unsavoury and disease infested place, and Jamie Montgomery died before his case could 

be heard.  

On the face of it Jamie Montgomery appears to fit the profile of many runaway 

slaves in the late-eighteenth and nineteenth-century United States. He ran from 

enslavement to freedom, seeking work and sanctuary in a society all but free of enslaved 

people. And yet his story is rather different from most eighteenth-century North 

American runaways. A runaway in America during the 1750s would most likely find 

sanctuary far from the place of his or her enslavement, amongst communities of African 

Americans. Anti-slavery and the Underground Railroad did not yet exist in North 

America, and an escaped slave would have had few prospects for work and an 

independent life. In the areas to which a runaway might migrate, working alongside white 

craftsmen as a free and equal man, full and equal church membership, and marriage into 

white society were all unlikely if not illegal. 

By running away on the eve of his return voyage to Virginia, Jamie Montgomery 

knew that he was unlikely to ever again see his African American parents and family, and 

that he was eschewing the opportunity to find solace within African American society 

and culture. Some three and a half thousand miles from his native Virginia, Montgomery 
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sought something entirely different in Scotland. In the rolling hills of Ayrshire he had 

grown into manhood, and it would appear that his experiences as an apprentice in Robert 

Morris’s workshop and in John Witherspoon’s congregation had been sufficiently 

welcoming for Jamie to be able to imagine a better life for himself as a joiner in Scotland. 

Perhaps, like the Jamaican-born slave Joseph Knight some two decades later, Jamie 

Montgomery had met and hoped to marry a local woman, although there is no direct 

evidence for this in the surviving records. Certainly, other black people in eighteenth-

century Britain were able to marry white people, from Equiano and James Albert 

Gronniosaw to Maria Sambo.33  

Perhaps Jamie had come to covet a life in Scotland that would have been 

impossible in Virginia, a life in which he might live, labour, worship and perhaps even 

marry into white society on the basis of the rough equality of working men. Undoubtedly 

he would have faced some racism and discrimination in Scotland, yet it appears that the 

attractions of personal independence as one of a small number of black people in 

Scotland were greater than the appeal of his black family and community in Virginia. 

Even the Scottish name of Montgomery may have been an affirmation of the 

independence and new identity that Jamie desired. In the deed of sale the young enslaved 

boy purchased by Shedden was – like so many of the enslaved – referred to by only a first 

name, Jamie. In the runaway slave advertisement that he placed in the Edinburgh 

Evening Courant, Shedden had refused to acknowledge Jamie’s last name, referring 

simply to Witherspoon’s certificate ‘which calls him Jamie Montgomerie.’ In the way he 

identified himself, Jamie Montgomery was at least as Scottish when he died as he had 

been Virginian when he was born. 
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Cape Coast Castle, the Gold Coast, West Africa 

On occasion enslaved Africans ran away from their owners in groups, and my 

third case study involves one such incident. On 19th November 1785 over one hundred 

enslaved men, women and children ‘agreed among themselves to abscond’ from Cape 

Coast Castle, the British slave-trading headquarters on the Guinea Coast. When Governor 

James Morgue awoke he discovered that over half of his enslaved work force had 

disappeared: out of a total of 205 castle slaves, some 40 male slaves along with their 

wives and children had eloped.34 The mass escape left the castle and its slave dungeons 

undermanned, and rarely can a British official on the West African have felt so 

vulnerable. Perched on the coast with tens of thousands of Africans living within a few 

hundred miles, and with his Dutch rivals fewer than ten miles away, the runaway slaves 

had left Britain’s greatest African trading entrepôt dangerously exposed. Instead of an 

optimum number of sixty healthy white Company officials, soldiers and workers and 

some two hundred castle slaves, Morgue was left with no more than a couple of dozen 

healthy white Company employees and soldiers, and fewer than one-hundred mainly 

infirm and elderly castle slaves. This force was not sufficient to protect the mighty British 

fort and the valuable trade goods and slaves within. 

The castle slaves who ran away from Cape Coast Castle in November 1786 

included men such as the bricklayer Quamino, the carpenter Aggin, and the cooper 

Cudjoe, women such as the ‘labouresses’ Ambah, Abbah and Cocoah, and children such 

as Accoah, Sagoah and Yan.35 They acted within the context of British slaveholding on 

the Gold Coast, a hybrid institution that merged West African forms of slavery with 
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British understandings of both bound and free labor. As such the castle slaves were 

guaranteed some rights and privileges, including the payment of a maintenance stipend in 

trade goods, the right to trade these with local people, and the freedom to create families 

and households that were seldom interfered with by the British. In many ways they were 

employees as much as they were enslaved property, effectively receiving salaries: during 

1785 the castle slaves in Cape Coast Castle were paid with over £1,600 worth of goods, a 

sum that was about one-fifth of the total paid as wages to all of the British officials, 

soldiers, craftsmen and laborers in the fort.36  

And it is as paid workers that we might begin to understand why this large group 

of slaves absconded in November 1785. They did not run away in order to escape their 

enslavement. Rather, they absconded in order to protest a change in their working and 

domestic arrangements, and to achieve a return to the status quo. More than anything 

else, this mass elopement represented a mass withholding of labor, a strike, and it was 

successful.  

Their actions were prompted by the discovery of a large supply of shells on the 

seashore between Cape Coast Castle and Elmina. Shells could be used in the production 

of lime and thus the manufacture of cement and mortar for castle maintenance and 

construction. The shells were too far from Cape Coast Castle for female castle slaves to 

make the trip there and back on foot in one day, carrying the shells along the beach in 

large basins balanced upon their heads. Consequently, the castle surveyor had temporary 

shelters erected on the beach, and he instituted a shift system whereby twelve ‘laboresses’ 

and their children would spend a week on the beach preparing shells for shipment by boat 

to Cape Coast Castle, after which they would be relieved by another shift of laboresses 
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and children. However, this separation of mothers and children from fathers  

did not suit the Men with whom they cohabited, they therefore on the following 

Sunday without making the least Complaint, agreed among themselves to 

abscond, and... having done all in their Power to prevail on the whole Body of the 

Slaves to follow them, they sett off to the Number of 40 Men, accompanied by 

their Women and Children.’37 

The slaves prepared carefully, selling and trading materials in the local community in 

order to procure gunpowder and arms to protect themselves (against local peoples, rather 

than against their British masters).38 

Within a few hours Governor Morgue and his officers were apprised of the 

location of the absent castle slaves, quite possibly by the runaways themselves. In fact the 

runaways welcomed British negotiators from Cape Coast Castle. Only the surveyor, 

whose plan had prompted their strike and desertion, felt sufficiently threatened that he 

remained within the castle while negotiations took place. For a month British officials 

traveled to and from the encampment of the absconded slaves, who ‘refused to return to 

their Duty, unless the Governor stipulated Terms with them, shortened their Hours of 

Work, and gave them a daily Allowance of Liquor.’ It was only after exerting significant 

pressure on local Africans, and particularly the company-paid caboceers or middle-men, 

that the runaways were persuaded to return, and only then when ‘a promise was given 

that they should not be punished’ and that the surveyor’s shell-collecting plan would be 

dropped. Not surprisingly, the governor justified his lengthy report to RAC officials in 

London by stating that his missive was intended to demonstrate ‘how unruly the slaves 

are grown from too great Lenity, and the necessity of making an Example to convince 



 25 

them of their Dependence, which they now seem to doubt.’ While the governor was 

enraged by his inability to enforce discipline among workers that the company owned, his 

and the company’s weakness and the castle slaves’ relative strength in determining the 

conditions of work and daily life were all too apparent, and none of the slaves were 

punished for absenting themselves from work for an extended period.39 

Running away as we have usually defined it would have made little sense to these 

castle slaves. Virtually all had been born in Senegambia or were descended from 

Senegambians, purchased by the British and brought some fifteen hundred miles to the 

Gold Coast. With very different culture, religion and language from the peoples of the 

Gold Coast, these castle slaves formed communities adjacent to the British forts and 

castles that were distinct from local West African societies. While relatively independent 

and enjoying the rights and liberties enjoyed by many of the enslaved who lived and 

worked in West Africa, the castle slaves remained anomalous and thus vulnerable. If a 

castle slave ran away he or she was a stranger far from home, and immediately vulnerable 

to kidnapping and sale for transport to the Americas. Since castle slaves helped feed, 

clean and exercise the thousands of poor souls who passed through the castle dungeons 

on their way to ships bound for the Americas, they knew enough to want to avoid this 

fate at all costs. For almost the entire history of the British transatlantic slave trade, castle 

slaves were protected from transport to the Americas, and only a small handful found 

guilty of capital crimes were sent westward across the Atlantic. Castle slavery thus 

afforded both rights and protection, and it was a form of bound labor familiar to West 

Africans. Those who lived and worked within this institution sought to shape and mold it 
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to their liking rather than to escape it. At this they were generally successful, much to the 

chagrin of British officials on the Gold Coast.40  

Three years later Governor Thomas Morris lamented that the castle slaves ‘have 

so far imbibed the Principles of Liberty (so much the Conversation now) as to be far 

above submitting to any Restrictions we may communicate to them...’41 During the 

height of the British transatlantic slave trade, the castle slaves upon whose labor this trade 

rested seldom sought to escape their enslavement. Instead, they regarded themselves as 

bound workers with rights and privileges, wholly different and separate from the 

enslaved bound for American plantations. Running away en masse was a form of labor 

negotiation rather than an attempt to escape from slavery to freedom. 

 

Albermarle County, Virginia 

 In 1822 an enslaved brother and sister ran away from the Virginia plantation on 

which they had been born and raised. Beverly was a skilled craftsman and Harriet was a 

trained domestic slave with experience of working in a great plantation house, and both 

were in their early twenties. In his plantation account book their elderly master recorded 

the elopement: beside the name Beverly the planter wrote ‘run away’, while beside the 

name Harriet he wrote the single word ‘run.’42 Like most Virginia planters he was in the 

habit of placing runaway slave newspaper advertisements and even sending trusted slaves 

in pursuit of those who escaped from him, but Beverly and Harriet were among the 

fortunate few enslaved Africans who were not pursued and who were able to leave 

bondage behind them. With a white father, grandfather and great-grandfather, these 

enslaved Virginians were sufficiently light-skinned to be able to pass into white society, 
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whether in Virginia or elsewhere: the plantation manager later recalled that Harriet was 

‘nearly as white as anybody, and really beautiful.’43 This helps explain why they 

disappeared from their master’s records. It was probably the last time that he wrote down 

their names, and he would never again see them. Beverly and Harriet had run away. 

Most of what we know about the lives of Beverly and Harriet after their 

elopement comes from their younger brother Madison’s short memoir, which he 

published a half-century later. Madison recalled that his older brother ‘went to 

Washington as a white man... [and] married a white woman in Maryland.’ Harriet also 

went to Washington DC, where she ‘married a white man in good standing... [and] raised 

a family of children.’ Beverly, Harriet and their children were never, Madison believed, 

‘suspected of being tainted with African blood.’ They had run away from both slavery 

and their race. Yet the very existence of Madison’s memoir suggests that Harriet and 

Beverly remained in communication with enslaved family members.44 

It is common to think of running away as a defiantly individual act, an assertion 

of self-determination by a slave resisting definition as property. While Beverly’s and 

Harriet’s successful bid for freedom appears on the surface to fit this definition, the truth 

is rather more complicated. Beverly’s, Harriet’s and Madison’s owner was also their 

father, just as their maternal grandmother had been the property of the man who had 

fathered their mother. Although Beverly and Harriet were born and grew up as slaves, it 

appears very likely that running away was as much their owner’s and their enslaved 

mother’s plan as it was their own. Not only did their owner prepare them to elope by 

providing them with skills that would enable them to prosper, but he chose not to pursue 

them or to do anything to advertise their escape and provide for their recapture. In fact, 
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their owner provided his runaway children with new clothes and money on the eve of 

their departure, preparing them for the transition from enslavement to freedom. The 

plantation’s manager, Edmund Bacon, would later recall that Harriet’s flight was aided 

by the fact that ‘by Mr. Jefferson’s direction I paid her stage fare to Philadelphia, and 

gave her fifty dollars.’45 Their mother, Sally Hemings, and their planter father Thomas 

Jefferson appear to have intended that their children would live most of their adult lives 

free, and had long planned for this very occasion. When Jefferson wrote ‘run away’ and 

‘run’ by their names, he meant something altogether different from the elopement of 

many other enslaved people, for he was referring to the passage of his own children from 

dependence into independent adulthood, from enslaved African Americans to free white 

Americans. 

Annette Gordon-Reed builds upon Madison Heming’s brief memoir and a host of 

other sources to argue that Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson made an agreement 

about the fate of their children. The relationship between enslaved woman and owner 

began in Paris during Jefferson’s residence as American ambassador to the Court of 

Louis XVI, and she was pregnant when he was recalled to the United States. According 

to Madison, Jefferson: 

desired to bring my mother back to Virginia with him but she demurred. She was 

just beginning to understand the French language, and in France she was free, 

while if she returned to Virginia she would be re-enslaved. So she refused to 

return with him.46 

Only sixteen or seventeen years old, apparently Sally understood her situation perfectly. 

So too did Jefferson, who wanted to continue the relationship with the half-sister of his 
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late wife, and so he promised her ‘extraordinary privileges’ and ‘made a solemn pledge 

that her children should be freed at the age of twenty-one years.’47 

Which is more remarkable (assuming that Gordon Reed is correct), the fact that 

Jefferson promised Hemings that their children would be free, or that she believed him? 

Either way, Hemings’ son Madison believed that as a ‘consequence of his promise, on 

which she implicitly relied, she returned with him to Virginia.’48 Their relationship would 

last for about thirty-seven years, and over the coming decades Jefferson did indeed 

prepare their children for adult lives as free men and women rather than as slaves. Sally’s 

children grew up ‘free from the dread of having to be slaves all our lives long,’ a 

knowledge that no doubt shaped their unusual identities. Beverly and his bothers 

Madison and Eston all worked as apprentices under their enslaved uncle John Hemings, a 

man whose great skill and craftsmanship was valued highly by Jefferson. Harriet was 

taught domestic crafts, for spinning, weaving and sewing were skills taught to many 

young white girls in Virginia as preparation for their work as wives and mothers.49  

Gordon-Reid suggests that Jefferson may have believed that his and Hemings’ 

children – who were only one-eighth black – had essentially become white, and that they 

were entitled to enjoy the full rights and citizenship of white Americans.50 But Jefferson 

did not free them, perhaps because by this legal and public act he would have identified 

them as free blacks and perhaps even as his children. The status of free blacks would 

have defined and constrained Beverly and Harriet, and denied them the advantages of 

whiteness. However, if Beverly and Harriet ‘became free’ as Madison put it a half-

century later, they could pass silently into white society. Beverly and Harriet were far 

from typical in their escape from enslavement in the early nineteenth century American 
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South, and we might even conclude that they should not be considered runaways. Yet 

their father was unable to fully escape from the mental world of slavery, and he drew on a 

fixed lexicon for the slaves on his plantations, which may help explain why he recorded 

that his son and daughter had ‘run’ away. Technically, legally, Jefferson was correct, and 

Beverly and Harriet remained his and then his heirs’ property, but a far more complicated 

truth was hidden beneath the familiar words ‘run away.’51 

 

*  *  * 

 

What did the running away of enslaved Africans mean in the late-eighteenth-

century British Atlantic World? Legally it represented an illegal seizure of property, even 

if the property had, paradoxically, stolen themselves. But as the examples I have 

examined illustrate, running away could mean radically different things. These four 

instances of running away were hardly typical, yet each helps to reveal the extraordinarily 

diverse ways in which slavery worked and was experienced around the British Atlantic 

World, the range of possible motives for escape, and the varied objectives and 

experiences of those who eloped.  Why people ran, what they ran from and what they ran 

to differed enormously. Although many runaways sought to escape enslavement and 

slave society others did not, and running away did not necessarily represent a defiant bid 

for freedom in the manner of Douglass or Tubman. The actions of some runaways were 

aimed at securing a place within a black community, whether enslaved or free. But in 

West Africa a slave who ran from his British masters might justifiably regard the 

neighboring black communities as anything but safe refuges, while Jamie Montgomery in 
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Scotland and Harriet and Beverly Hemings in Virginia regarded white communities as 

their sanctuaries, albeit in very different ways. 

On both sides of the Atlantic, slavery’s most essential characteristic as a form of 

bound labour was made clear in acts of running away that were all about the withdrawal 

of labour in order to pressure for changes in working conditions. Because slavery could 

operate in such dramatically different ways, running away from enslavement inevitably 

meant different things to enslaved and masters alike in these different places. Indeed, in 

places as different as West Africa and Barbados bound labour – and often slavery – was 

all but ubiquitous, and it was difficult for the enslaved to imagine living in anything other 

than a society of enslaved bound labourers. In Scotland, on the other hand, it may have 

been just as difficult for an enslaved African to imagine returning to slave society after 

living for years in a place where few were fully free and independent but virtually none 

were slaves. 

In order to understand more fully the lives of the enslaved we must move beyond 

an assumption that early modern peoples all shared a reverence and desire for individual 

liberty as it was conceptualised by Enlightenment thinkers, and beyond a belief that 

slavery was experienced by all slaves at all times as a denial of the Enlightenment 

definition of freedom more than as an extremely coercive form of bound labour. This is 

not to say that enslaved people did not desire greater freedom in their lives, but rather that 

in different times and places the kind of liberty that a runaway sought could vary 

enormously. Perhaps it is time for us to abandon the very term ‘runaway’, with its 

connotations of law-breaking fugitives and deserters, people whose journey from 

bondage to freedom constituted an illicit assault against the legal property rights of slave 
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owners. Masters used a variety of terms to describe the actions of those who stole 

themselves away, including ‘run away’ and ‘runaway’, ‘absented’, ‘eloped’ and 

‘absconded’, hinting at the complexity of motives and actions of those who had gone. But 

all of these are terms emanating from the assumptions of slave-owners who interpreted 

and categorized the actions of the enslaved according to a particular set of beliefs and 

values. 

Perhaps we might think in terms of how trafficked people who escape bondage 

today often enter larger populations of refugee and migrant peoples, and many of them 

seek to disappear into the hidden economies of societies which are as threatening as they 

are liberating. Many who are enslaved in the western world have been trafficked across 

international borders, and if they are able to escape they are nonetheless illegal aliens, 

and so have little choice but to disappear into an extra-legal world of work, the so-called 

‘informal economy’.52 Immigration officers, police and law enforcement officials, courts 

and lawyers often treat people first and foremost as migrants, and pay less attention to the 

fact that some had been enslaved before successfully escaping their bondage. In the 

eighteenth and nineteenth centuries (and to an extent in the present) escapees from 

slavery were criminals, and the language describing ‘runaways’ is thus emblematic of a 

discourse created largely by slave-owners.  

By focusing on the wide variety of reasons for, methods of and experiences and 

lives after escape, we can begin to learn more about the many different experiences of 

British enslavement of Africans in West Africa, the Caribbean, North America and the 

British Isles. Individuals’ choice to remove themselves from a slave-owner and the site of 

their enslavement was an altogether larger and more complicated category of behaviour 
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that can be summarised by the owners’ term ‘running away’, not least because many 

remained within plantation or slave society. In many ways enslavement can be a human 

experience that is directly opposed to belonging: an enslaved person cannot control their 

human environment for families and communities can easily be torn apart, and the only 

permanent sense of belonging an enslaved person could count on was inherent in the fact 

that they were owned by and belonged to another person.  

We need to utilise runaway advertisements and accounts of those who escaped 

from their masters as a prism that can shed light on the extraordinary variety of 

experiences of enslavement in the British Atlantic World and beyond, and to 

acknowledge that running away meant many different things because the enslavement 

that men and women escaped from, and the societies in which they sought to take more 

control of their own lives, could vary so greatly. By escaping from this bondage, both in 

the past and the present, formerly enslaved people often seek to affirm membership in a 

family or community of their own choosing. Johnny Beckles did this without ever leaving 

Bajan plantation society, while Jamie Montgomery sought life and belonging within 

Scottish Presbyterian society as a skilled craftsman. Senegambian British-owned castle 

slaves on the West African Gold Coast had formed their own society between the British 

and local Fante and other West Africans, and sought not escape but a measure of control 

of their families and labour, for escape was all but impossible. Beverly and Harriet 

Hemings were able to pass from their race and enslaved status to membership of white 

society in the early American republic. 
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